Thomas B., individually and as parent and next friend of A.B., a minor, Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

v. CASE NO.: 22-0468

U.S. Hotel and resort Management, Inc., and Regency Hotel Management, LLC, Defendants Below, Respondents.

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

William C. Brewer, Esq.
West Virginia State Bar No. 448
Ramsey K. Jorgensen, Esq.
West Virginia State Bar No. 14074
P.O. Box 4206
Morgantown, WV 26504
wbrewer@brewerlaw.com
ramsey@brewerlaw.com
Counsel for the Petitioners Thomas B. and A.B.

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The Circuit Court erred when it found that Petitioners claims were barred
 by the West Virginia Skiing Responsibility Act because the Resort had a duty to
 maintain the Resort in a reasonably safe manner, and there are facts and evidence which
 must be discovered in order to determine whether the Resort met this standard.
- 2. The Circuit Court erred when it relied on the case *Travis and Morgan*Bailey, on behalf of their minor son, Parker Bailey v. New Winterplace, Inc., a West Virginia

 Corporation because the facts of that case are neither similar nor relevant to be indicative of the Legislature's intent in this case.
- 3. The Circuit Court erred when it found that Anna, or the tubers that struck Anna, had the duty to avoid collision because when tubing, unlike when skiing, the tuber does not have the ability to determine the course or speed of the tube.
- 4. The Circuit Court erred in finding that the Resort should not be held to a higher standard because the Resort advertised and enticed families having children with special needs to attend the Resort, but it did not have the proper precautions in place to care for and aid individuals with special needs, such as Anna.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

Petitioner Thomas B. (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. B) read an advertisement posted on social media by Canaan Valley Resort (hereinafter referred to as "the Resort"). JOINTAPP39. The advertisement stated the Resort was hosting the Special

Olympics for individuals with special needs. JOINTAPP39. After discovering the advertisement, Mr. B decided to take his family to the Resort. Mr. B saw this advertisement when he was searching for activities that could accommodate his daughter's special needs and activities the entire family could enjoy. Petitioner A.B., (hereinafter referred to as "Anna") has Down's Syndrome and requires special aid or accommodations to ensure she can actively, but safely, participate in several activities. JOINTAPP3.

After seeing the advertisement, on January 27, 2019, Mr. B purchased tickets for the Snow Tubing Park at the Resort for his children, including Anna. JOINTAPP3. The Resort implied it was capable of accommodating individuals with special needs by hosting the Special Olympics.

After purchasing the Snow Tubing Park tickets, Mr. B asked the staff at the Resort whether it was safe for Anna to participate because she has Down's Syndrome, and she may require additional accommodations. JOINTAPP3. The staff assured Mr. B that it was safe and permissible for Anna to participate. Because of the reassurances, Mr. B allowed Anna to participate in the snow tubing. JOINTAPP3.

All of Mr. B's children began tubing down the Snow Tubing Park shortly after Mr. B spoke with the Resort staff. JOINTAPP3. On the second run down the hill, Anna was struck from behind by another tuber who was allowed to begin his/her descent prior to Anna clearing the tubing lane. JOINTAPP3. Anna was knocked unconscious and began bleeding from her mouth. JOINTAPP3. Despite the collision, additional

tubers were permitted to continue down the hill while Anna lay on the ground unconscious, nearly striking her additional times. JOINTAPP3.

Neither an employee nor agent of the Resort came to the aid of Anna, but rather an unidentified patron called 911 and provided emergency medical assistance to Anna. JOINTAPP3 – JOINTAPP4. The Resort did not immediately provide any medical assistance to Anna as no ski patrol person, or other employee or agent of the Resort qualified to administer emergency aid, was readily available. JOINTAPP3. Additionally, the Resort did not verify the medical training of the unidentified patron who administered emergency aid to Anna. JOINTAPP4.

B. Procedural Background

Petitioners instituted an action against Respondents on or about January 26, 2021. Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to W.Va. R. Civ. Proc. 12(b)(6) and a Memorandum in Support of Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint on or about June 30, 2021. Petitioners filed a Response to the Motion on or about November 30, 2021. Petitioners then supplemented their Response with the Affidavit of Chris Currey on or about December 6, 2021.

A hearing on Respondents Motion was held before the Circuit Court of Tucker County on December 10, 2021. By Order dated May 23, 2022, the Circuit Court of Tucker County granted Respondents' Motion to Dismiss.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in this case is *de novo* because the Circuit Court granted Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, filed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia

Rules of Civil Procedure. *Elmore v. Triad Hospitals, Inc.*, 220 W.Va. 154, 157-58, 640 S.E.2d 217, 220-21 (2006). "Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review." Syl. pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).

IV. REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioners hereby request that they be permitted to present Oral Argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure as this is a matter of first impression for this Court.

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The section of the West Virginia Skiing Responsibility Act ("WVSRA") regarding ski area operators' immunity does not apply to this case. The purpose of the WVSRA is "to define those areas of responsibility and affirmative acts for which ski area operators shall be liable for loss, damage, or injury and those risks which the skier expressly assumes for which there can be no recovery." W.Va. Code § 20-3A-1. However, ski area operators still have a duty to their customers, patrons, or visitors to "maintain the ski areas in a reasonably safe condition. . " and they cannot escape liability for their own negligent acts. In this case, the ski area operators' negligence caused injuries to Anna and should be held liable for their own negligent actions and/or inactions

In granting the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, the Circuit Court erroneously relied upon a case from the Circuit Court of Raleigh County, West Virginia, entitled Travis and Morgan Bailey, on behalf of their minor son Parker Bailey, v. New Winterplace, Inc., Civil Action No. 15-C-389-K. The facts in Bailey are distinguishable from the facts in this

case. In *Bailey*, the child was injured due to something beyond the ski area operator's control. In the instant case, the ski area operator had complete control over whether Anna was subjected to a risk of harm.

In the instant case, the Circuit Court held that the Resort did not owe a heightened duty and standard of care to Anna because of her special needs. However, recently the West Virginia Legislature has stated the need for greater protections for disabled persons. While the Special Protections for Disabled Children Act of 2022 is not directly on point or controlling in this matter, it does provide a great deal of perspective to this case. In enacting the Special Protections for Disabled Children Act of 2022, the West Virginia Legislature recognized the need for special protections for certain individuals, such as Anna, a person with Down's Syndrome.

Furthermore, the Resort should be held liable in this case because the Resort held itself out to families and individuals as able to accommodate individuals such as Anna. The Resort's advertisement opened the door to be held to a higher standard and this higher standard requires a higher level of protection for individuals with special needs. In this case, the Resort failed to do so.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Circuit Court erred when it found that Petitioners claims were barred by the West Virginia Skiing Responsibility Act because the Resort has a duty to maintain the Resort in a reasonably safe manner and there are facts and evidence that must be discovered in order to determine whether the Resort met this standard.

The Circuit Court granted Respondents' Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that the West Virginia Skiing Responsibility Act ("WVSRA") granted immunity to the Resort

in the instance of a collision between skiers at the Resort that did not have alcohol as a factor. JOINTAPP54 – JOINTAPP59. However, the Court completely ignores the language of the statute stating that the Resort must "[m]aintain the ski areas in a reasonably safe condition. . ." W. Va. Code § 20-3A-3(8).

"Complaints are to be read liberally as required by the notice pleading theory underlying the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure." *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.*, 194 W.Va. 770, 776, 461 S.E.2d 516, 522 (1995). The circuit court, viewing all the facts in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, may grant the motion 'only if it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his[, her, or its] claim which would entitle him[, her, or it] to relief'" *Id.* at 776, 461 S.E.2d at 522 (quoting Syl. pt. 3, in part, *Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co., Inc.*, 160 W.Va. 530, 236 S.E.2d 207 (1977)).

In upholding the WVSRA against an equal protection challenge, this Court noted that the Legislature's intent in enacting the WVSRA was to "immunize ski area operators only for the 'inherent risks in the sport of skiing which should be understood by each skier and which are essentially impossible to eliminate by the ski area operator[.]'"

Lewis v. Canaan Valley Resorts, Inc., 185 W.Va. 684, 693, 408 S.E.2d 634, 643 (1991)

(quoting W.Va. Code 20-3A-1) (emphases added).

The District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia stated that "the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has determined that the West Virginia Legislature did not intend to immunize ski area operators from liability for negligence where it involves a violation of an operator's duty to maintain the ski areas in a

reasonable safe condition." Hardin v. Ski Venture, Inc., 848 F.Supp. 58, 61 (1994). Other Courts around the United States have held similarly, that a ski area operator is not immunized for negligent actions and/or inactions for which they could have foreseen a harm, and the harm could have been eliminated. See Maddocks v. Whitcomb, 896 A.2d 265, 267, 2006 ME 47 (ME 2006) (stating that the Maine ski area liability statute provides for actions against ski area operators for the negligent operation or maintenance of the ski area); Huneau v. Maple Ski Ridge, Inc., 17 A.D.3d 848, 794 N.Y.S.2d 460 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. App. Div. 3d Dep't. 2005) (holding that the Plaintiff's case was not barred as there were factual allegations as to whether the ski area attendants' actions were inconsistent with their job duties and unreasonably created a risk of injury); Nolan v. Mt. Bachelor, Inc., 317 Or. 328, 336, 856 P.2d 305, 309 (Or. 1993) (quoting statutory language providing that a ski area operator's liability for injuries sustained at the ski area is limited to those that occur as a result of the ski area operator's negligence); Syl. pt. 6, Kopeikin v. Moonlight Basin Management, LLC, 981 F.Supp.2d 936 (Dist. Mont. 2013) (stating that "Montana's skier responsibility statutes do not immunize ski area operators from their own negligence"); Brown v. Stevens Pass, Inc., 97 Wash.App. 519, 984 P.2d 448 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. 1 1999) (holding that genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether the ski resort negligently failed to pad metal fence posts that were fixed into the ground by concrete, thereby enhancing the skier's risk of injury); and Verberkmoes v. Lutsen Mountains Corp., 844 F.Supp. 1356, 1359 (D. Minn. 5th Div. 1994) (stating that the test for determining whether a hazard is an inherent risk of skiing is whether it is a danger "which reasonable prudence on the part[] of the defendant[] would have foreseen and

corrected," and holding that encountering and colliding with a parked ATV on a ski path was not an inherent risk of skiing).

In enacting the WVSRA, the Legislature's purpose was not to provide ski area operators with *carte blanche* and shield them from all immunity. Ski area operators can be and continue to be liable for their own negligent actions and/or inactions. This Court's rulings in several other cases regarding the WVSRA are not applicable in this case because the facts in the other cases dealt with injuries caused by changes in terrain or whether an object off the slope was properly marked by a sign, as required, and not the negligence of the ski area operator. The injuries in this case are because of the negligence of the ski area operator.

Despite the fact that this Court has affirmed circuit court rulings granting other defendants' or respondents' Motions to Dismiss or Motions for Summary Judgment wherein the plaintiff alleged a failure to keep the ski area in a reasonably safe condition, the facts of those cases can be distinguished from the facts of this case.

In *Pinson v. Canaan Valley Resorts, Inc.*, 196 W.Va. 436, 473 S.E.2d 151 (1996), this Court affirmed the circuit court's ruling granting summary judgment to the defendant. In *Pinson*, the plaintiff described herself as an "intermediate skier," but she fell and was injured when she happened upon "excess, ungroomed natural snow." *Id.* at 437, 439, 473 S.E.2d at 152, 154. However, the WVSRA explicitly immunizes ski area operators for injuries caused by "variations in terrain; surface or subsurface snow or ice conditions." W.Va. Code § 20-3A-3(8). The WVSRA further states that each skier "shall have the sole individual responsibility for knowing the range of his own ability to negotiate any slope

or terrain, and it shall be the duty of each skier to ski within the limits of the skier's own ability[.]" W. Va. Code § 20-3A-5. Further, the Court recognized that the resort in *Pinson* informed the plaintiff that she needed to be aware of changing conditions, and that change in skiing or snow conditions on a ski slope or trail is a risk that is inherent to the sport of skiing. *Pinson*, 196 W.Va. at 441, 473 S.E.2d at 156.

The allegations and circumstances presented in *Addis v. Snowshoe Mountain, Inc.*, 2013 WL 6152356 (W.Va. Nov. 22, 2013) are similar to those presented in *Pinson*. In *Addis*, the plaintiff was an experienced skier, and in fact, was a former ski instructor. *Addis*, 2013 WL 6152356, at *2 (W.Va. Nov. 22, 2013). The plaintiff alleged that the defendant was negligent in not properly maintaining the ski area when he slipped on ice while skiing down a double black diamond slope. *Id.* at *1. Again, this Court recognized that skiers, rather than ski area operators, are liable for injuries caused by "variations in terrain; surface or subsurface snow or ice conditions." *Id.* at *3 (quoting *Pinson*, 196 W.Va. 436, 473 S.E.2d 151 (1996)).

In Stephen W., individually and as next friend of J.W. v. Timberline Four Seasons Resort Management Co., 2015 WL 5125536 (W.Va. August 31, 2015), this Court was presented with the issue of a minor skier colliding with an electrical box when she veered to avoid colliding with another skier. The plaintiff argued that the defendant was liable because it did not properly mark the electrical box with a "visible sign or other warning implement" and by "failing to maintain the ski slope in a 'reasonably safe condition."

Id. at *1. However, this Court found and held that the defendant in Stephen W. could not be liable because there was in fact a warning sign, and the WVSRA states that ski area

operators are not liable for "collisions with snowmaking equipment which is marked by a visible sign." *Id.* at *3 (quoting W.Va. Code § 20-3A-3). The Court further stated that the defendant was not required to pad the electrical box because of the presence of a sign.

Importantly, the cases of *Pinson*, *Addis*, and *Stephen W*. are factually distinguishable and not persuasive in this case. While it remains true that ski area operators cannot be liable for variations in skiing conditions, collisions with snowmaking equipment that is clearly marked with a visible sign, or for collisions with other skiers, they can be and should be held liable for employees' actions that are negligent and inconsistent with their job duties and create a risk of injury.

The case most persuasive here is *Hardin v. Ski Venture, Inc.*, 848 F.Supp. 58 (N.D. W.Va. 1994). In *Hardin*, it was alleged that the ski area operator was negligent in maintaining the park in a reasonably safe condition. *Id.* at 59. Specifically, the plaintiff alleged that the defendant was negligent because the snowmaking equipment produced "excessively wet snow," the snowmaking equipment was pointed uphill towards the face of oncoming skiers, and the wet snow stuck to the plaintiff's goggles, causing him to lose vision and collide with a tree, paralyzing him. *Id.* at 59. As stated above, the Court in *Hardin* recognized this Court's holding in *Lewis v. Canaan Valley* in which this Court noted that "the West Virginia Legislature did not intend to immunize ski area operators from liability for negligence where it involves a violation of an operator's duty to maintain the ski areas in a reasonably safe condition." *Hardin*, 848 F.Supp. at 61. The Court in *Hardin* found that the plaintiff had pled allegations of a "dangerous

condition [that] could have been eliminated if the defendant had reasonably maintained [the ski area]." *Id.* at 62. The Court held that questions of fact existed and a jury must determine "whether the defendant reasonably maintained and located the snowmaking machine and/or whether the plaintiff assumed an inherent risk of skiing and/or violated the duties imposed upon him." *Id.* at 61.

Much like the issues presented in *Huneau* and *Brown*, supra., the actions and/or inactions of the Resort and its employees caused the injuries and harm suffered by Anna. The Resort negligently created the risk of harm to Anna when it did not properly train its staff to protect the tubers in the Snow Tubing Park. In other words, but for the negligence of the Snow Tubing Park employee, Anna would not have been injured. In this case, Anna was not injured due to her undertaking of an activity outside of her skill set. Anna was not injured by a variation in terrain of surface or subsurface snow or ice conditions. Anna was not injured by colliding with a visibly marked structure. Anna was injured when an employee of the Resort permitted additional riders to continue to ride down the hill before she had properly cleared the landing area. Anna was injured due to the negligence of an employee of the Resort who did not properly ensure the lane was clear from other tubers before allowing more tubers to ride down the hill.

As noted in *Hardin, Lewis, Pinson*, and W.Va. Code § 20-3A-1, the purpose of the WVSRA is to immunize ski area operators from harms and injuries that are inherent to the sport of skiing *which are essentially impossible for the ski area operator to eliminate*. In this case, the injury to Anna could have been prevented by the ski area operator. Anna

did not assume this risk. Anna was injured when another tuber struck her from behind because the ski area operator neglected his job duties.

This Court has not previously defined what risks are inherent to the sport of skiing. However, the United States District Court for the District of Minnesota, citing the United States District Court for the District of Vermont, has defined a test for determining whether a risk is inherent to the sport of skiing, and it is persuasive in this case.

"The test for determining if a hazard is an inherent risk of skiing is whether it is a danger 'which reasonable prudence on the part of the defendant would have foreseen and corrected." *Verberkmoes*, 844 F.Supp. at 1359 (citing *Wright v. Mt Mansfield Lift*, 96 F.Supp. 786, 791 (D. Vt. 1951). In *Verberkmoes*, the plaintiff alleged that the ski area operator was negligent when the plaintiff encountered and struck an ATV that was parked near the ski run. *Id.* at 1357 – 58. The plaintiff intentionally fell in order to avoid hitting the ATV at full speed, but the plaintiff's arm was still broken in the collision with the parked ATV. *Id.* at 1357-58. In denying the defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, the court in *Verberkmoes* found that

"[t]he location of a parked ATV is within the control of the ski resort. It is not a hazard which is fixed, but one which moves about a ski area. . . Thus, a parked ATV is not a hazard that a skier would typically expect to encounter every time he skis a particular hill, as he would expect to see an obvious hazard such as a lift tower. Nor is an ATV a hidden hazard such as a snow-covered stump which might be virtually undetectable."

Id. at 1359. The District Court held that "the hazard posed by an ATV parked on or near a groomed trail is a danger that reasonable prudence on the part of [the defendant] would have foreseen and corrected or at least placed a warning for skiers." Id. at 1359.

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