# DO NOT REMOVE

WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEA DOCKET NO. 22-0468



Thomas B., individually and as parent And next friend of A.B., a minor,

And Regency Hotel Management, LLC

Plaintiffs Below, Petitioner,

Circuit Court of Tucker County (Civil Action No. 20-C-4)
U.S. Hotels and Resort Management, Inc.,

Defendants Below, Respondent.

FILE COPY

On Appeal from a final order of the

RESPONDENTS U.S. HOTEL AND RESORT MANAGEMENT, INC., AND REGENCY HOTEL MANAGEMENT, LLC'S RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S BRIEF

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

### II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should deny Petitioner's request for review and appeal because it defies (1) the plain language of the WVSRA and (2) the precedent set by this Court and courts across the state applying the WVSRA over the nearly forty years since its enactment in 1984. In *Pinson v*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Joint Appendix 54(emphasis added).

Canaan Valley Resorts, Inc., 196 W. Va. 436, 473 S.E.2d 151 (1996), the Court upheld a grant of summary judgment and relied upon the express provisions of the WVSRA specifying certain conditions for which the ski operator is not responsible, including "[v]ariations in terrain; surface or subsurface snow or ice conditions; bare spots, rocks, trees, other forms of forest growth or debris .... <sup>17</sup> More recently the Court affirmed summary judgment for a ski area operator under similar circumstances. <sup>18</sup> Although Petitioner has argued that A.B.'s injuries are distinguishable from the plaintiffs' injuries in Addis and Pinson because they were not caused by ice, ungroomed snow, or conditions related to variations in the terrain, that argument fails. Pinson and Addis stand for the proposition that the WVSRA immunizes ski area operators from liability not just from the inherent risk to skiers posed by ice and snow conditions, but also the assumed inherent risks specifically enumerated in W. Va. Code § 20-3A-5, including collisions with objects or other skiers. <sup>19</sup>

Furthermore, this Court should deny Petitioner's request for review and appeal because Petitioner's asserted arguments regarding an alleged heightened duty owed to individuals with special needs based on Canaan Valley's "advertising" to such persons is both factually irrelevant to any claim analyzed under the WVSRA and procedurally untimely and inappropriate. Petitioner's Complaint made no allegation of such a heightened duty. As such this issue was not appropriately presented to the Trial Court and is not appropriate in this appeal. In addition, Petitioner makes some arguments for the first time on appeal. This Court should not consider these matters, which were not part of the pleading nor the Trial Court's consideration of the Motion to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Pinson v. Canaan Valley Resorts, Inc., 196 W. Va. 436, 473 S.E.2d 151 (1996); W. Va. Code § 20-3A-3(8) (1984). 
<sup>18</sup> Addis v. Snowshoe Mountain, Inc., No. 12–1537, 2013 WL 6152356 (W. Va. Nov. 22, 2013) (unpublished memorandum decision)(affirming summary judgment in a negligence action filed by an experienced skier who was injured when, after his ski became dislodged, he "stopped on a 'very steep slope' and, while attempting to put his ski back on, he slipped on ice, over a drop-off, and into the nearby wooded area" as barred by WVSRA).

<sup>19</sup> W. Va. Code § 20-3A-5.

Dismiss. With or without consideration of these matters, however, the Trial Court's granting of dismissal to Canaan Valley should be affirmed in all respects.

#### III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Because the facts and legal arguments have been adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument, Canaan Valley asserts that oral argument is not necessary under West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(4) unless the Court determines that other issues arising upon the record should be addressed. If the Court determines that oral argument is necessary, this appeal is appropriate for argument pursuant to West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 19 and disposition.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review.

"Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is *de novo*."<sup>20</sup> Despite that, when examining a motion to dismiss, the complaint is construed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and therefore, its allegations are to be taken as true, "[t]he purpose of a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure is to test the sufficiency of the complaint."<sup>21</sup> The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has held that "[t]he trial court, in appraising the sufficiency of a complaint on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, should not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief.<sup>22</sup> Stated another way, "a trial court should not dismiss a complaint where sufficient facts have been alleged that, if proven, would entitle the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W.Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Cantley v. Lincoln Co. Com'n, 221 W.Va. 468, 470, 655 S.E.2d 490, 492 (2007); John W. Lodge Distributing Co., Inc. v. Texaco, Inc., 161 W.Va. 603, 605, 245 S.E.2d 157, 158 (1978).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45–46, 78 S.Ct. 99, 2 L.Ed.2d 80 (1957). Syl. Pt. 3, Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co., Inc., 160 W.Va. 530, 236 S.E.2d 207 (1977).

plaintiff to relief."23

While Canaan Valley does not disagree with Petitioner's suggestion that "a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim [is] viewed with disfavor and rarely granted," this Court has held that, "[m]otions to dismiss provide necessary relief in instances where a party requests relief that it cannot receive or attempt to enforce rights which it does not have.<sup>24</sup> As a final note, by attempting to add factual allegations he did not plead, Petitioner is evidently trying to generate issues of fact. This is inappropriate under the West Virginia Rules of Civil and Appellate Procedure.

B. Each of Petitioner's Assignments of Error Takes Issue with The Trial Court's Application of the Plain Language of the WVSRA and This Court's Guidance on Statutory Interpretation.

Petitioner asserts four assignments of error: (1) the Trial Court did not determine if Canaan Valley maintained the snow tubing park in a reasonable safe "manner"; (2) the Trial Court should not have applied *Travis and Morgan Bailey, on behalf of their minor son, Parker Bailey v. New Winterplace, Inc., a West Virginia corporation* such that it supports a finding that the WVSRA bars a claim arising out of a collision between A.B. and another skier; (3) the Trial Court should have determined that W. Va. Code § 20-3A-5(a) cannot apply to tubing but only other types of skiing under the WVSRA; and (4) the Trial Court should have found that Canaan Valley owes a heightened duty toward A.B. In each assignment of error, Petitioner argues for what *he* believes the law *should be*—not what the law actually is. Canaan Valley will address each assignment of error separately, but they share in common the same fundamental flaw, which is that they ignore the Trial Court application of the plain and unambiguous language of the WVSRA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Cantley, 221 W.Va. at 470, 655 S.E.2d at 492.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See, e.g., State ex rel. McGraw, 194 W.Va. at 776, 461 S.E.2d at 522.

#### 1. The Clear and Unambiguous Standard.

This Court has had, on several prior occasions, an opportunity to apply plain, unambiguous statutory language. In those instances, this Court has held that, "[w]hen a statute is clear and unambiguous and the legislative intent is plain, the statute should not be interpreted by the courts, and in such case it is the duty of the courts not to construe but to apply the statute."<sup>25</sup>

In accord with this practice, the Trial Court found, as a threshold matter, that Petitioner A.B. met each of the necessary criteria to be covered as a "skier" under the WVSRA.<sup>26</sup> Specifically, the trial court found that under the clear and unambiguous language of the WVSRA, A.B. was a covered "skier,"<sup>27</sup> because she was engaged in the act of "skiing" in a "ski area" of a "ski area operator" at the time of her injury.<sup>28</sup> Because A.B. is a "skier" under the WVSRA, the clear and unambiguous language of the statute was applied by the Trial Court, resulting in the conclusion that A.B.'s claims must be dismissed.

## 2. Relevant Language of the WVSRA.

Despite that Petitioner's claims have been a moving target throughout the briefing of this case, the plain language of the WVSRA provides that Canaan Valley is statutorily immune from Petitioner's negligence action(s), and the trial court's granting of Canaan Valley's motion to dismiss for Petitioner's failure to state a claim was not erroneous for any of the four reasons asserted by Petitioner. In 1984, the West Virginia Legislature passed the WVSRA, finding that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Syl. Pt. 5, State v. General Daniel Morgan Post No. 548, Veterans of Foreign Wars, 144 W.Va. 137, 107 S.E.2d 353 (1959)(emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Joint Appendix 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> The WVSRA, at W. Va. Code § 20-3A-2(h), sets forth the definition of a "skier," as "any person present at a skiing area under the control of a ski area operator for the purpose of engaging in the sport of skiing in locations designated as the ski slopes and trails but does not include a passenger using an aerial passenger tramway."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Id.

Since it is recognized that there are inherent risks in the sport of skiing which should be understood by each skier and which are essentially impossible to eliminate by the ski area operator, it is the purpose of this article to define those areas of responsibility and affirmative acts for which ski area operators shall be liable for loss, damage or injury and those risks which the skier expressly assumes for which there can be no recovery.<sup>29</sup>

In doing so, the Legislature legally recognized what many other states have also codified—that the act of skiing comes with inherent risks for which, as a matter of public policy, ski area operators should not be assigned liability. <sup>30</sup> Rather, the West Virginia Legislature defined the specific areas of responsibility/liability that should lie with the "ski area operators" as well as those which should lie with the individual "skier" who assumes the inherent risks of skiing. <sup>31</sup> Furthermore, the Legislature designated specific risks of injuries that it considered as inherent in the sport of skiing, including collision with other skiers. <sup>32</sup> In sum, the statute requires that, "[e]ach skier expressly assumes the risk of and legal responsibility for any injury, loss or damage to person or property which results from participation in the sport of skiing," including, specifically, that "skiers assume the risk of injury which results from variations in terrain, snow or ice conditions, and collisions with marked snow-making equipment."<sup>33</sup>

The plain language steps leading to the conclusion that Petitioner's claims are barred begin with W.Va. Code § 20-3A-2(i), which defines "skiing" as "sliding downhill or jumping on snow or ice on skis, a toboggan, a sled, a tube, a snowbike, a snowboard, or any other device by utilizing any of the facilities of the ski area." Next, W.Va. Code §20-3A-2(e) defines

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> W. Va. Code§ 20-3A-1(emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Other states with skiing liability statutes include Pennsylvania, Michigan, Washington, Colorado, Idaho, Maine, Oregon, Connecticut, Wyoming, Vermont, Ohio, North Carolina, Arizona, Massachusetts, New Mexico, and Montana.

<sup>31</sup> W. Va. Code§ 20-3A-3; W. Va. Code§ 20-3A-5.

<sup>32</sup> W. Va. Code. § 20-3A-5(a).

<sup>33</sup> W. Va. Code § 20-3A-3(8); W. Va. Code § 20-3A-5(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> W.Va. Code § 20-3A-2(emphasis added).

"ski area" as "all ski slopes and trails not including any aerial passenger tramway." W.Va. Code §20-3A-2(j) then defines "ski slopes and trails" as including "those areas designated by the ski area operator to be used by skiers for the purpose of participating in the sport of skiing in areas designated for that type of skiing activity." 35 Here, the trial court reasoned that because A.B. was sliding downhill on a tube ("skiing") in a snowtubing park ("ski trail") under the control of Canaan Valley ("ski area operator"), she was a "skier" covered by the WVSRA when she was injured. 36

The final step is the application of W.Va. Code §20-3A-5, which provides that "skiers" "expressly assume[] the risk of and legal responsibility for any injury, loss or damage to person or property which results from participation in the sport of skiing." Despite Petitioner's contention otherwise, the legislature went on to specifically enumerate inherent risks and responsibilities assumed by the "skiers," as follows:

Each skier shall have the sole individual responsibility for knowing the range of his or her own ability to negotiate any ski slope or trail, and it shall be the duty of each skier to ski within the limits of the skier's own ability, to maintain reasonable control of speed and course at all times while skiing, to heed all posted warnings, to ski only on a skiing area designated by the ski area operator and to refrain from acting in a manner which may cause or contribute to the injury of anyone. If while actually skiing, any skier collides with any object or person, except an obviously intoxicated person of whom the ski area operator is aware, the responsibility for such collision shall be solely that of the skier or skiers involved and not that of the ski area operator.<sup>38</sup>

<sup>35</sup> Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Joint Appendix 1 at ¶16. Notably, this clear language interpretation flies in the face of Petitioner's third assignment of error—that, in Petitioner's calculation, "collisions while tubing" does not mean, "collisions while skiing" under the WVSRA.

<sup>37</sup> W. Va. Code § 20-3A-5.

<sup>38</sup> Id. (emphasis added).

When examining the circumstances of this case, the result was clear for the Trial Court: A.B. was tubing, which makes her a "skier" under the WVSRA; A.B. collided with a person, who has not been alleged to have been intoxicated, and therefore "the responsibility for such collision shall be solely that of [A.B.] or skiers involved."<sup>39</sup> At its core, this case boils down to a collision of two snow tubers. In accord with the clear and unambiguous language of the WVSRA, Canaan Valley, as a ski area operator, is specifically immune from actions arising out of collisions between snow tubers. This Court, therefore, should affirm the Circuit Court's application of the plain language of the WVSRA, which necessarily results in the conclusion that Canaan Valley is statutorily immune.

3. Finding that Canaan Valley is immune from Petitioner's Claims is consistent with the intent of the Legislature.

It is not necessary to delve into analysis of Legislative intent when the language is plain. But, it is at least interesting to note that the plain language which results in finding that Petitioner is a skier, and thus cannot bring a claim based on a collision with another skier, is consistent with Legislative intent. First, the only exception under the WVSRA to the mandate that ski area operators are not responsible for collisions between skiers is when one of the skiers is intoxicated. The Legislature obviously could have carved out other exceptions, for minors, or for others with some diminished capacity, but it chose not to do so. Second, W.Va. Code §20-3A-1 states in pertinent part, "...it is the purpose of this article to define those areas of responsibility and affirmative acts for which ski area operators shall be liable for loss, damage or injury and those risks for which the skier expressly assumes the risk and for which there can be no recovery." (emphasis added). Read *in pari materia* with W.Va. Code §20-3A-5, there can be no doubt that the Legislature intended to immunize ski area operators like Canaan Valley from liability for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> *Id*.

collisions between skiers, and in W.Va. Code § 20-3A-2(h) and (i), the Legislature made it clear that Petitioner and the other person snow tubing with whom A.B. collided are skiers under the WVSRA.

4. Courts across the nation have consistently found upheld the immunity ski resorts for injuries to skiers incurred while participating in the act of "skiing" due to "skiing responsibility" statutes similar to the WVSRA.

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